## In the Supreme Court of the State of California

ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANIES and PERSONAL INSURANCE FEDERATION OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiffs and Respondents,

v.

DAVE JONES, in his capacity as the Commissioner of the California Department of Insurance,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S226529

SUPREME COURT

OCT 13 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Case No. B248622 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BC463124 The Honorable Gregory W. Alarcon, Judge



#### **OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
EDWARD C. DUMONT
Solicitor General
PAUL D. GIFFORD

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

As stated in the petition for review, this case presents the following issue: "Did the Commissioner act within his statutory authority in promulgating regulations designed to prevent insurers from providing homeowners purchasing or renewing insurance policies with 'replacement cost' estimates that the Commissioner reasonably concluded would be incomplete and potentially misleading?"

More specifically, the Court's order granting review directs the parties to address "whether the Commissioner has the statutory authority to promulgate a regulation specifying that the communication of a replacement cost estimate which omits one or more of the components in subdivisions (a)-(e) of section 2695.183 of title 10 of the California Code of Regulations is a 'misleading' statement with respect to the business of insurance. (Cal. Code of Regs., tit. 10, § 2695.183, subd. (j).)"

#### INTRODUCTION

Catastrophic wildfires, which put lives at risk and destroy thousands of homes, are a recurring problem in California. So too is the problem of unanticipated underinsurance. Over the past two decades, after every major wildfire, lawmakers and the Commissioner have been inundated with complaints. Post-fire, homeowners tell a familiar story. They reasonably relied on the expertise of their insurers to provide them with estimates for what it would cost to rebuild their homes—often their single most valuable asset—and used those estimates to select coverage limits. After the loss, however, they discovered that the estimates did not include necessary expenses, such as the cost to replace the foundation, or take into account the features and circumstances of their homes that substantially affect the cost of rebuilding. These homeowners learned too late that their

"replacement cost" policies were insufficient to allow them to replace their homes.

Together, the Legislature and the Commissioner have worked to understand the problem of unintended underinsurance and taken various steps to remedy it. The Legislature has, for example, mandated that insurers provide customers with standardized disclosures that define the available types of replacement cost insurance, warn of the risks of underinsurance, and encourage homeowners to obtain current estimates of the cost to rebuild. (Ins. Code, §§ 10101, 10102.)¹ And, relevant to this case, the Commissioner promulgated California Code of Regulations, title 10, section 2695.183—the replacement cost regulation— exercising his authority "as conditions warrant" to "promulgate reasonable rules and regulations, and amendments and additions thereto, as are necessary to administer" Article 6.5 of the Insurance Code, the Unfair Insurance Practices Act (§§ 790-790.15). (§ 790.10.)

The Commissioner's replacement cost regulation is designed to prevent homeowners from being misled into underinsuring their homes by incomplete estimates that fail to consider all the costs reasonably expected to be incurred in rebuilding. The regulation requires the insurer to consider and include a list of minimum costs and factors, such as demolition and debris removal, type of foundation, and geographic location; base the estimate on what it will actually cost to rebuild; and take steps annually to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All statutory references are to the Insurance Code unless otherwise noted. As used in this brief, "insurer" has the same meaning as "licensee" in section 2695.180, subdivision (b) of title 10 of the California Code of Regulations—specifically, any person or entity holding a license or certificate of authority issued by the Department of Insurance, a brokeragent, or any other entity for whom the Commissioner's consent is required before transacting business in the State of California or with California residents.

ensure that estimating tools reflect current conditions. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 10 (Regs.), § 2695.183, subds. (a)-(e).) The regulation further provides that failing to follow these steps in providing an estimate of replacement cost constitutes a misleading statement, which is a violation of the Unfair Insurance Practices Act. (Regs., § 2695.183, subd. (j); see § 790.03, subd. (b) [prohibiting, among other things, "any statement . . . which is untrue, deceptive, or misleading, and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue, deceptive, or misleading"].) The regulation thus helps to ensure that when homeowners request replacement cost estimates to inform their insurance decisions—as the standardized disclosures encourage them to do—the information they receive from insurers is complete and not misleading.

The court of appeal struck down the replacement cost regulation, concluding that the Commissioner had exceeded his statutory authority in promulgating it, and that the existence of the Commissioner's other statutory powers, such as his power to institute enforcement proceedings, limits his rulemaking powers in this area. (Opinion (Opn.) 23-25.) In so doing, the court failed to properly apply the rules of statutory construction and to give effect to the Legislature's intent that the Commissioner, exercising his expert judgment, should have broad, quasi-legislative rulemaking authority to act without delay or the need for specific legislative direction to protect consumers, create a level and well-defined playing field for the insurance industry, and fill the statute's gaps. This Court should reverse the court of appeal's decision, confirm the Commissioner's broad rulemaking authority, and uphold the replacement cost regulation.

#### BACKGROUND

#### I. THE INSURANCE CODE AND THE COMMISSIONER

"All insurance in this State is governed by the provisions of [the Insurance C]ode." (§ 41.) In addition to its general provisions (§§ 1-48), the Insurance Code consists of five divisions setting out general rules governing insurance (Division 1, §§ 100-1879.8) and addressing classes of insurance, including residential property insurance (Division 2, §§ 1880-12880.5); the powers and duties of the Commissioner (Division 3, §§ 12900-13813); affordable housing entities' pooling of self-insured claims or losses (Division 4, §§ 13900-13907); and insurance adjusters (Division 5, §§ 14000-16032). As set out generally in Division 3, "[t]he commissioner shall perform all duties imposed upon him or her by the provisions of this code and other laws regulating the business of insurance in this state, and shall enforce the execution of those provisions and laws." (§ 12921, subd. (a).)

Among the Commissioner's duties is the responsibility to ensure that the purposes of the code's Unfair Insurances Practices Act, Division 1, Part 2, chapter 1, article 6.5, sections 790-790.15, are carried out. (See §§ 790.04, 790.05, 790.06, 790.10.) Enacted in 1959, the Unfair Practices Act codified certain provisions of the Uniform Fair Trade Practices Model Act developed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners following Congress's enactment of the McCarran-Ferguson Act (15 U.S.C. § 1011 et seq.). (§ 790.) The McCarran-Ferguson Act declared the business of insurance to be a subject of state regulation and exempted state law enacted for the purpose of insurance regulation from federal preemption. (15 U.S.C. §§ 1011, 1012; see *U.S. Dept. of Treasury v. Fabe* (1993) 508 U.S. 491, 499-500 [discussing history of McCarran-Ferguson Act].) The Model Act closely paralleled the Federal Trade Commission

Act (15 U.S.C. § 41 et seq.) to avoid potential federal preemption of state regulation of unfair or deceptive insurance trade practices. (Snyder, "Preserving" Civil RICO: How the Model Unfair Trade Practices Act Affects RICO's Private Right of Action under the McCarran-Ferguson Act (2011) 86 Notre Dame L.Rev. 1767, 1777.) The purpose of the Unfair Insurance Practices Act is to "regulate trade practices in the business of insurance in accordance with the intent of Congress as expressed in the [McCarran-Ferguson Act], by defining, or providing for the determination of, all such practices in this State which constitute unfair methods of competition or unfair or deceptive acts or practices and by prohibiting the trade practices so defined or determined." (§ 790.)

Section 790.03 defines and prohibits certain acts "as unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive acts or practices in the business of insurance." For example, it specifically prohibits "[m]aking any false entry in any book, report, or statement of any insurer with intent to deceive any agent or examiner lawfully appointed to examine into its condition or into any of its affairs . . . ." (§ 790.03, subd. (e).) More broadly, section 790.03 also prohibits

making or disseminating . . . any statement containing any assertion, representation, or statement with respect to the business of insurance or with respect to any person in the conduct of his or her insurance business, which is untrue, deceptive, or misleading, and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue, deceptive, or misleading.

### (§ 790.03, subd. (b).)

The Unfair Insurance Practices Act provides the Commissioner with certain investigative and enforcement tools. Section 790.04 empowers the Commissioner to examine and investigate the business affairs of any person to determine compliance with the Act. The Commissioner may bring

enforcement actions under section 790.05 against any person alleged to have engaged in a prohibited act or practice defined in section 790.03. Upon a determination that the person has engaged in prohibited conduct, the Commissioner may assess monetary penalties under section 790.035 and may enjoin the conduct. Further, section 790.06 permits the Commissioner to initiate an administrative proceeding against a person suspected of engaging in any act or practice that is unfair or deceptive, but is not defined in section 790.03. Section 790.06 provides that after an administrative hearing, if the Commissioner determines the act or practice is unfair or deceptive, he must issue a report so declaring. (§ 790.06, subd. (a).) Under section 790.06, the Commissioner cannot directly assess monetary penalties or order the conduct to cease as he can when proceeding under section 790.05. The Commissioner must instead apply to the superior court for an injunction. (§ 790.06, subd. (b).)

In addition, section 790.10 vests the Commissioner with quasilegislative rulemaking authority.<sup>2</sup> Section 790.10 provides that "[t]he commissioner shall, from time to time as conditions warrant, after notice and public hearing, promulgate reasonable rules and regulations, and amendments and additions thereto, as are necessary to administer this article." In delegating rulemaking authority to the Commissioner, the Legislature intended for him to clarify and fill in the details of the broad provisions of the prohibited acts or practices defined in section 790.03, "for the benefit of the public without having to wait for the Legislature to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Legislature commonly grants agencies both adjudicatory and rulemaking authority. (See, e.g., *Agricultural Labor Relations Bd. v. Superior Court* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 392, 399-400 [Board has enforcement powers under Labor Code, § 1160 et seq. and rulemaking authority under Labor Code, § 1144]; see also §§ 779.21-779.24 [granting Commissioner both adjudicatory and rulemaking authority with respect to credit life and disability insurance].)

act at a later date." (Opn. 28-29, quoting Assem. Com. on Finance and Insurance, summary of Assem. Bill No. 1353 (1971 Reg. Sess.) p. 1.)

#### II. THE CHRONIC PROBLEM OF UNINTENDED UNDERINSURANCE

The Legislature and the Commissioner have worked for over two decades to address the problem of unintended underinsurance.

The severity of the underinsurance problem first became evident after the 1991 Oakland hills fire, which destroyed more than 3,000 homes. Facing what had become essentially empty lots, homeowners turned to their insurers and were shocked to learn that their "replacement cost" policies were not sufficient to cover the actual cost of rebuilding. (Appellant's Motion for Judicial Notice (MJN), Ex. A, pp. 2-3 [Assem. Com. on Insurance, Bill Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1854 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 11, 1992].) Many homeowners complained that misleading sales and marketing tactics by insurers led them to believe they were adequately insured to completely rebuild following a catastrophic event, when in fact their coverage was substantially inadequate. (*Id.*, at p. 3; MJN, Ex. B, p. 5 [Sen. Rules Com., Off. of Sen. Floor Analyses, analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1854 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 11, 1992].)

In response, the Legislature added to Division 2 of the Insurance Code a set of new provisions referred to as the California Residential Property Insurance Disclosure Act (Disclosure Act). (§§ 10101-10107.) These new provisions required that insurers provide homeowners with a standard disclosure form that encouraged homeowners to read their policies, and provided certain general information related to property insurance, such as the meaning and types of "replacement cost coverage." (Stats. 1992, ch. 1089, § 1.) The Disclosure Act was intended to ensure that homeowners were provided with "full and accurate information" to make informed decisions about coverage. (MJN, Ex. A, p. 2 [Assem. Com. on Insurance,

Bill Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 1854 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.) as amended Aug. 11, 1992].)

The problem of homeowners finding themselves unexpectedly underinsured in the wake of catastrophic fires persisted, as evidenced by the complaints that followed the 2003 wildfires in southern California. (Rulemaking File (RF [volume]:[page]) IV:1081; V:1320-1322; VI:1431, 1524.) The disaster brought to light a related problem—that underinsurance could result from cost increases occurring between the time the home is destroyed and the time that rebuilding can commence. In response, the Legislature enacted section 2051.5, which was designed to provide homeowners adequate time to rebuild or repair and to account for the fact that the cost at the time of rebuilding may be higher than at the time of the actual loss. (MJN, Ex. C, pp. 9-13 [Sen. Com. on Insurance, Bill Analysis of Assem. Bill No. 2199 (2003-2004 Reg. Sess.) as amended May 17, 2004].) The Legislature also amended section 10103 of the Disclosure Act to require the declarations page of every policy to state that the limit of liability is based on an estimate of the cost to rebuild the insured home. (Stats. 2004, ch. 385, § 2; § 10103, subd. (a)(2).)

The Senate Banking, Finance and Insurance Committee also identified underinsurance as a significant, continuing problem. (MJN, Ex. D, pp. 16-17 [Sen. Banking, Finance and Insurance Com., Bill Analysis of Sen. Bill No. 2 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended Mar. 29, 2005].) The Committee noted that homeowners' lack of knowledge about construction costs, and improperly trained insurance industry personnel estimating replacement costs, contributed to underinsurance. The Committee declared that it is "critical that initial policy limits be set accurately and updated regularly." (*Id.* at p. 176, original underscoring.) The Committee noted that the Commissioner (the Department of Insurance) had also held hearings "to educate the public and to determine if market conduct exams needed to be

commenced," and that in these hearings, "underinsurance was a major issue." (*Ibid.*)

The Senate Committee's hearings led the Legislature in 2005 to enact section 1749.85, designed in part to educate those members of the industry who interact with homeowners "in proper methods of estimating the replacement value of structures, and of explaining various levels of coverage under a homeowners' insurance policy." (§ 1749.85, subd. (a).) The section required the Department of Insurance's curriculum committee to make recommendations to the Commissioner on such methods by 2006. (*Ibid.*; see MJN, Ex. E, pp. 24-26 [Sen. Rules Com., Third Reading of Sen. Bill No. 2 (2005-2006 Reg. Sess.) as amended August 30, 2005].)<sup>3</sup>

In 2007 and 2008, large wildfires again struck the State. (See, e.g., RF V:1301-VI:1387 [news articles documenting fire].) Once again, the Commissioner received numerous complaints from affected homeowners who had realized too late that they were seriously underinsured. (See, e.g., RF II:276-292 [summary of insurer actions contributing to underinsurance in Lake Tahoe and San Diego regions].) For example, a Lake Tahoe resident affected by the 2007 Angora fire reported that she was shocked to learn that she was "grossly under-insured" on two residences. (RF II:432, 436.) She was "led to believe" by her agent that her level of insurance was "in the ballpark" when in fact one home was forty percent underinsured, and the other fifty percent underinsured. (RF II:432, 436.) Another fire victim relied on his agent's expertise to estimate replacement costs, and the agent's assurance that the limits would be adequate to rebuild his home, only to find out that the agent estimated the replacement cost based only on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Pursuant to section 1749.1, the Commissioner appoints a curriculum board to develop and recommend pre-licensing and continuing education courses of study for insurance licensees.

his prior experience with construction costs and neglected to include many necessary expenses. (RF II:460, 481, 484.) As a result of his reliance, the homeowner was almost fifty percent underinsured. (RF II:481.)

These stories are typical. The vast majority of the underinsurance complaints were from homeowners who believed they had sufficient coverage, but learned after a major fire that the replacement cost estimates that they relied on to set policy limits did not consider costs for such routine and necessary steps as replacing foundations, debris removal, demolition, overhead and profit, engineering reports and architect plans. (RF V:1173.) Many homeowners reported that they had relied on the expertise of their insurers, insurance agents and brokers to prepare the replacement cost estimates and had purchased policies with limits based on those estimates. (See, e.g., RF I:79-80, 124-125, 139, 217; II:351, 421, 503; III:584, 720-721, 822, 826; IV:961.) Further, some homeowners reported that when they had asked to confirm the sufficiency of their insurance coverage, their agents or brokers reassured them that their policy limits were sufficient to rebuild. (See, e.g., RF I:168, 200; II:436, 484; III:790-792; IV:872, 906.) Other homeowners asked to increase coverage, but were dissuaded by their agents from doing so based on assurances that their existing coverage was sufficient. (See, e.g., RF III:582, 831.) Some also reported that their insurers had failed properly to account for the particular characteristics of their homes, leading to underestimates. (See, e.g., RF I:55-56, 166-176, 190-210; III:582-583, 643, 672, 743, 810; IV:869, 904-915, 1024-1026.) In many cases, there was a lack of documentation establishing how the insurer determined the replacement cost estimate. (See RF II:276-292.) And these problems were widespread; in a June 2008 survey of homeowners conducted by a nonprofit consumer advocate group, 74% of the respondents stated that the limits were not sufficient to cover their post-fire costs of rebuilding. (RF IV:1059-1062 [United Policyholders' survey].)

Pursuant to his investigative authority under section 790.04 of the Unfair Practices Act, the Commissioner conducted examinations of four insurers that, together, account for fifty percent of the homeowners' insurance policies issued in California. (RF IV:1027-1030; see § 790.04 [examination power].) The resulting examination report determined that despite insurers' attempts to place the responsibility to select appropriate coverage limits on homeowners, homeowners in fact relied on insurers' estimates of replacement cost to determine the amount of coverage to buy, and, as a result of insurers' failure to include all reasonable and necessary expenses in their estimates, a large number of homeowners were underinsured. (RF IV:1030.)<sup>4</sup> The examination report concluded that "the insurers' processes and tools for estimating replacement cost are inadequate for formulating a realistic dwelling rebuilding cost" and their use "result[s] in insureds who believe they are adequately covered for the full reconstruction cost of their dwelling . . . ." (*Ibid*.)

In 2010, the Commissioner and the Legislature continued to work on the problem of underinsurance and its relationship to replacement cost estimates.

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