SUPREME COURT  
FILED

JAN 11 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

No. S226529

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

---

ASSOCIATION OF CALIFORNIA INSURANCE COMPANIES AND  
PERSONAL INSURANCE FEDERATION OF CALIFORNIA,  
*Plaintiffs and Respondents,*

v.

DAVE JONES IN HIS CAPACITY AS COMMISSIONER OF THE CALIFORNIA  
DEPARTMENT OF INSURANCE,

*Defendant and Appellant.*

---

After A Decision By The Court Of Appeal  
Second Appellate District, Case No. B248622  
Los Angeles County Superior Court Case No. BC463124  
The Honorable Gregory W. Alarcon, Judge Presiding

---

**ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

**GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP**  
GENE LIVINGSTON, SBN 44280,  
LIVINGSTONG@GTLAW.COM

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

## V. ARGUMENT

### A. The UIPA Does Not Confer The Type of Broad Quasi-Legislative Authority The Commissioner Has Claimed Here.

#### 1. The Commissioner’s Overbroad Assertion Of His Authority Under UIPA Conflicts With The Statutory Text And Structure.

The Commissioner’s claim that the Legislature has granted him broad quasi-legislative authority to proscribe new categories of unfair or deceptive practices and prohibited acts is flatly contradicted by the plain language and structure of the statute itself, as well as its legislative

---

<sup>6</sup> The Commissioner also points to similarities in the regulation promulgated by the DMV in *Ford Dealers* and section 2695.183. (OBM at p. 23.) But any similarities in the regulations are irrelevant—the question is the breadth of the authority granted by the delegating statutes—and the statute at issue in *Ford Dealers* provided for a far broader delegation of power than the UIPA does. In *Ford Dealers*, the director of the DMV was authorized to “adopt rules and regulations ‘as may be necessary to carry out the provisions’ of the Vehicle Code.” (*Ford Dealers*, *supra*, 32 Cal.3d at p. 354.) The Court in *Ford Dealers* recognized this broad grant of power as a directive to “implement,” rather than administer, the statute.

history. As an initial matter, the UIPA is not “a statute [that] identifies a complex problem (such as air pollution), sets forth a general goal . . . , and then broadly empowers an agency to study the problem and to adopt appropriate guidelines.” (*Western States Petroleum, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 436 (conc. & dis. opn. of (Kennard, J.); cf., e.g., *Am. Coatings Assn., Inc. v. South Coast Air Quality Dist.* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 446, 452 [concluding that because the Air Resources Boards had been “charged with developing the state implementation plan,” the regulations adopted to do so were a valid exercise of the agency’s delegated power].)

In contrast to such capacious statutory schemes, the Legislature has set forth a very detailed and specific list of practices and “[p]rohibited acts” in the UIPA that it has defined as unfair or deceptive. (See § 790.03.) The Legislature also has not enacted any language empowering the Commissioner to make new law. (See generally § 790 et. seq.; compare, e.g., *Am. Coatings Assn., Inc. v. South Coast Air Quality Dist., supra*, 54 Cal.4th at p. 452 [“Under California law . . . [California Air Quality Management Districts] are required to ‘adopt and enforce rules and regulations to achieve and maintain the state and federal ambient air quality standards in all areas affected by emission sources under their jurisdiction, and shall enforce all applicable provisions of state and federal law.’ [Health & Saf. Code,] § 40001, subd. (a).”]; *Western States Petroleum, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 414 [“Government Code section 15606, subdivision

(c) authorizes the Board to “[p]rescribe rules and regulations to govern local boards of equalization when equalizing, and assessors when assessing....”]; *Harrott v. County of Kings* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1138, 1150 [“ Subdivision (h) of section 12276.5 provides in pertinent part: ‘The Attorney General shall promulgate a list that specifies all firearms designated as assault weapons in Section 12276 or declared to be assault weapons pursuant to this section.’”] with section 790.10 [“The commissioner shall, from time to time as conditions warrant, after notice and public hearing, promulgate reasonable rules and regulations, and amendments and additions thereto, as are necessary to administer this article.”].)

The UIPA thus constitutes a classic “self-executing” statutory scheme that does not require agency action to spell out what particular acts are prohibited—the Legislature has already done so, in section 790.03 and its many subparts and subdivisions. (See *Western States Petroleum, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 436 (conc. & dis. opn. of Kennard, J.); see also Opn. at pp. 27-28 [contrasting the Regulation and UIPA with other statutory schemes granting “broad discretion” to agencies, and citing *Credit Ins. Gen. Agents Assn. v. Payne* (1976) 16 Cal.3d 651, 656].) The UIPA is “fully self-executing and enforceable irrespective of the [Commissioner’s] rules interpreting how it should be applied in specific situations.” (*Western*

*States Petroleum, supra*, 57 Cal.4th at p. 436 (conc. & dis. opn. of Kennard, J.).)

In addition, when it adopted the UIPA, the Legislature actually provided a mechanism for the Commissioner to redress particular instances of novel practices the Commissioner contends are unfair or deceptive but that fall outside the ambit of section 790.03's detailed list. That mechanism, of course, is section 790.06's case-by-case order-to-show-cause procedure before a superior court—one that does not empower the Commissioner to exercise quasi-legislative authority.

This reading of the UIPA is confirmed by its legislative history. For example, the enrolled bill report provided to the Governor by the Department of Finance includes a description of the anticipated fiscal effect—specifically, “One time \$1,500 hearing costs”<sup>7</sup> for promulgating regulations to administer the UIPA. (Appellant's Request for Judicial Notice (“Appellant's RJN”) Exh. A.) Given how low this figure is, and the fact that it refers to “one time” costs, it appears clear that all the Legislature anticipated was limited post-enactment activity by the Department of Insurance, and that the Legislature did not expect that the Commissioner

---

<sup>7</sup> This would be approximately \$4,300 in today's dollars, according to the United States Department of Labor's online inflation calculator, available at [http://www.bls.gov/data/inflation\\_calculator.htm](http://www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm).

would engage in quasi-legislative lawmaking of the sort represented by the Replacement Cost Regulation.

The limited scope of the Commissioner's authority under the UIPA is also confirmed by at least one other important and telling portion of the legislative history. The bill, when introduced, provided that the Commissioner had authority to adopt regulations to "implement" the UIPA. On July 9, 1971, AB 1353 was amended, replacing the word "implement" with "administer." (See Plaintiffs and Respondents' Motion for Judicial Notice ("RJN") Exh. B [July 9, 1971 Version of AB 1353].) That change further demonstrates that the Legislature recognized that: (1) it had fully defined, in a self-executing way, the particular acts and practices that it deemed unfair or deceptive in its detailed and specific list in section 790.03, with a limited, case-by-case, gap-filling mechanism for novel instances of allegedly unfair or deceptive practices in section 790.06's order-to-show-cause procedure, and (2) the Commissioner may only "administer" the UIPA.

Giving authority to the Commissioner to "administer" the UIPA provides a limited delegation of authority. "Administering" confers authority only "[t]o have charge of; manage." (See Appellant's RJN Exh. D [American Heritage Dict. (2d college ed. 1982) p. 79]; see also Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) [defining "administer" as "[t]o provide or arrange (something) officially as part of one's job"]; *Lopez v. Monterey*

*County* (1999) 525 U.S. 266, 266 [the term “‘administer’ is consistently defined in purely nondiscretionary terms”].)

The overreach by the Commissioner embodied in the Replacement Cost Regulation also violates well-established principles of separation of powers, because it transgresses the boundaries set by the Legislature in adopting the UIPA. (See *Laisne v. State Bd. of Optometry* (1942) 19 Cal.2d 831, 835 [“When one department or an agency thereof exercises the complete power that has been by the Constitution expressly limited to another, then such action violates the implied mandate of the Constitution.”]; see also *Carmel Valley Fire Protection Dist. v. State of Cal.* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 287, 297 [reaffirming that “the primary purpose of the separation-of-powers doctrine is to prevent the combination in the hands of a single person or group of the basic or fundamental powers of government.” (Citations omitted.)].) Under these circumstances courts have “not hesitated to strike down provisions of law that either accrete to a single Branch powers more appropriately diffused among separate Branches or that undermine the authority and independence of one or another coordinate Branch.” (*Carmel Valley Fire Protection Dist. v. State of Cal.*, *supra*, 25 Cal.4th at p. 297, citations omitted.)

Although the legislative branch of government “properly may delegate some quasi-legislative or rulemaking authority to administrative agencies,” the head of “an executive agency created by statute[] has only as

much rulemaking power as is invested in [him or her] by statute.” (*Id.* at p. 299, citations omitted.) Underlying these principles is “the belief that the Legislature as the most representative organ of government should settle insofar as possible controverted issues of policy” and “must determine crucial issues whenever it has the time, information and competence to deal with them.” (*Clean Air Constituency v. Cal. State Air Resources Bd.* (1974) 11 Cal.3d 801, 817.)

In the years since the passage of the UIPA, the Legislature has further confirmed its intention to retain and continue to exercise its authority to define (in the statute itself) what acts and practices the Legislature itself deems unfair or deceptive, and thus prohibited. The year after section 790.10 was adopted, for example, the Legislature added subdivision (h) to section 790.03 forbidding fourteen specific “unfair claims settlement practices.” (Stats. 1972, ch. 725, § 1, p. 1314.) In 1975, it added two more paragraphs enumerating specific unfair claims settlement practices under subdivision (h). (Stats. 1975, ch. 790, § 1, p. 1812.) In 1978, it added the second and third paragraphs under subdivision (f) mandating that subdivision (f) be interpreted to require differentials based upon the sex of the insured and carving out a limited exception thereto. (Stats. 1978, ch. 186, § 1, p. 416.) And in 1983, it added the fourth paragraph under subdivision (f) stating that, notwithstanding subdivision (f), sex-based differentials in rates or dividends or benefits are



not required for certain categories of policies. (Stats. 1983, ch. 1261, § 1, eff. Sept. 30, 1983.)

In 1992, following the Oakland Hills wildfire the previous year, the Legislature enacted section 10101 et seq. These provisions were updated in 2010 to specifically address some of the causes of underinsurance, such as insureds failing to notify insurers about improvements to their homes and the effect of inflation on the cost of home repairs. Sections 10101 and 10102 required insurers to deliver to insureds a copy of the California Residential Property Insurance disclosure statement. (§§ 10101-10102.) That statement described for insureds the types of insurance policies, including actual cash value coverage, replacement cost coverage, extended replacement cost coverage, and guaranteed replacement cost coverage. It also described building code upgrade coverage and urged insureds to read their policies carefully. (§ 10102.) Section 10102 contains a section titled “The Residential Dwelling Coverage Limit,” which informed insureds that coverage should be high enough to rebuild a home if it is *completely* destroyed. After conducting hearings that covered the underinsurance phenomenon, the Legislature responded not by giving the Commissioner free rein to engage in quasi-legislative rulemaking, but by requiring additional disclosures and keeping responsibility for determining coverage

limits on insureds rather than shifting that responsibility to insurers as the Commissioner seeks to do.<sup>8</sup>

In this case, the Legislature's intent is clear—the Commissioner may only “administer” the UIPA, and may only utilize the more limited, non-legislative procedures the Legislature has specified for the Commissioner to redress the lengthy and highly specific list of prohibited acts proscribed by the Legislature, as well as novel instances of unenumerated practices the Commissioner views as unfair or deceptive. By attempting to arrogate the power and long-closely-guarded legislative prerogative to define what constitute unfair or deceptive insurance practices under the UIPA, the Commissioner has transgressed what the plain text and structure of this particular statute permits.

**2. Sections 790.03(b) And 790.10 Do Not Confer Authority On The Commissioner To Define New Categories Of Unfair Or Deceptive Insurance Practices.**

The purpose of the UIPA “is to regulate trade practices in the business of insurance . . . by *defining*, or *providing for the determination* of, all such practices in this State which constitute unfair methods of

---

<sup>8</sup> The Legislature also emphasized that underinsurance stemmed from cost factors, and in particular, construction costs that exceeded the insurance coverage provided. It did not (unlike the Commissioner) place responsibility for this situation on insurers, nor did it find that underinsurance was the result of an “unfair” or “deceptive” practice.

competition or unfair or deceptive acts or practices, and by prohibiting the trade practices so *defined* or *determined*.” (§ 790, italics added.)

In section 790.03 of the UIPA, the Legislature explicitly defined the acts or practices it considers to be unfair or deceptive. Section 790.03 is extremely detailed, containing subdivisions (a) through (j) (many of those with their own detailed subparts) delineating the specific conduct that constitutes “unfair methods of competition and unfair and deceptive acts” under the UIPA. (§ 790.03.) Absent from the statute, however, is any mechanism for the Commissioner to add to or modify this finely-reticulated and legislatively-prescribed list, or to otherwise define, in quasi-legislative fashion, new categories of unfair or deceptive acts beyond those set forth in section 790.03. The Legislature has reserved that power for itself and, over the years, has continued to exercise that closely-guarded prerogative itself.

Had the Legislature intended to create a third mechanism for regulating unfair practices by permitting the Commissioner to create regulations like the ones at issue here, it almost certainly would have harmonized the entire statutory structure and made conforming changes in the other sections of the UIPA. For example, section 790.02 of the UIPA prohibits persons from engaging in trade practices that are “defined in this article as, or determined pursuant to this article to be, an unfair method of competition or an unfair or deceptive act or practice in the business of insurance.” This section makes no reference to practices that the

Commissioner has designated to be unfair or deceptive through regulation. (See § 790.02.) Likewise, the penalties and enforcement provisions of the UIPA do not contain any suggestion that unfair or deceptive practices could be defined through regulations promulgated by the Commissioner. (See §§ 790.035, 790.05.) Nor does any other section of the UIPA make such a reference. (See generally § 790 et. seq.) A statute and its terms must be read in *pari materia* with the terms associated with it. The Court should therefore construe section 790.03 in a way that is harmonious with the entire UIPA, and does not create new unfair practices that do not fit with the rest of the statutory structure. (See *Yates v. U.S.* (2015) 135 S.Ct. 1074, 1085 (plur. opn. of Ginsburg, J.) [concluding that the phrase “tangible object” in the Sarbanes-Oxley Act cannot be understood to refer to a fish—even if a fish is a “tangible object”—because the term must be read in light of the statutory context]; see also *Grafton Partners L.P. v. Super. Ct.* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 944, 960 [“[T]he meaning of a word may be ascertained by reference to the meaning of other terms which the Legislature has associated with it in the statute[.]”].)

In construing a statute “to ascertain the Legislature’s intent so as to effectuate the purpose of the law,” the Court is guided by well-established canons of statutory construction, such as *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*. (*In re J.W.* (2002) 29 Cal.4th 210, 209, citation omitted.) Where, as here, a statute addresses one subject but not another, that choice to omit

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